Str Francis Piggout: C hief Justice mm His Own
Cause

Peter Wesley-Smith*

THE early volumes of the Hong Kong Law Reports are
enlivened by the vigorous, sometimes outspoken judgments of
Sir Francis Taylor Piggott, Chief Justice from 1905 to 1912.
There have been twenty Chief Justices in British Hong Kong,
and Piggott was the most learned and prolific in extrajudicial
writings. He was also, in the formidable company of Mr
J W Hulme and Sir John Smale in the nineteenth century,
one of the most controversial. His rather tempestuous career
provides a useful vehicle for exploring one uncharted region
of Hong Kong’s legal history and illustrates several issues of
constitutional interest.

Farly life

Francis Taylor Piggott was born on April 25, 1852. His
father, Revd Francis Allen Piggott,! was a curate who became
principal of Worthing College; his mother, daughter of Dr
John Hollamby Taylor, died at the time of his birth. The
young Francis went to school in Paris, thus achieving the
fluency in French which was a necessary qualification for his
appointment to the colonial civil service in Mauritius; he later
attended Worthing College. Despite his father’'s death in
1871 he was able to complete his education at Trinity College,
Cambridge, finally graduating MA, LLM. He was called to
the Bar (Middle Temple) in 1876. Five years later he mar-
ried Mabel, eldest daughter of Mr Jasper Wilson Johns
{(Liberal MP for Nuneaton) in a double wedding ceremony
with Mabel’s sister Eva and Robert Price, who became Liberal
MP for East Norfolk and was later knighted.?

* BA, LLB {Adel), PhD (HK): Senior Lecturer in Law, University of Hong
Kong. A draft of this article was circulated amongst colleagues at the
University of Hong Kong; Professor D M E Evans and Mr H J Lethbridge, in
particular, made helpful suggestions for improvement. 1 am grateful to both
and to Miss Agnes Chung, who surveyed Lugard’s papers at Rhodes House on
my behalf.

* Like his son. Francis Allen Piggott was a sizar (a student at Cambridge paving
reduced fees) at Trinity: BA 1843, MA 1346; deacon (Chichester) 1843,
priest 1844; curate of the Chapel of Ease. Worthing, 1843-4, of Holy Trinity
and St Mary's, Guildford, 1846-9, of West Hackney, Middiessex, 1850, of
Broadwater, Sussex, 1854-9; Principal of Worthing College, 1860-71. Died
Jan 1, 1871, aged 31, at Worthing, See ] A Venn (ed), Alumni Cantabrigienes,
Par: 11: From 1752 10 1900 {Cambridge, 1940-54).

* Sce F S G Pigpott, Broken Thread (Aldershot: Gale anxd Polden, 1950) passim.
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Piggott had already begun his career as an author, hav-
ing published in 1879 his Fuoreign Judgments: Their Eifect
in the English Courts® 1In 1884 he revised and enlarged this
volume, and in the followinyg yvear he produced a book on the
law of torts. He was also practising at the Bar and seeking
to bring himself to official attention.

Confercice an private {nterietional laie

In Foreign Office records of the 1880s there are several
confidential prints concerning initiatives taken by Piggott in
the field of private international law. The first relates to a
proposed conference for a treaty with Italy on the recognition
of foreign judgments. Sir Julian Pauncefote, formerly At-
torney General in Hong Kong and at that time Permanent
Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs,® had in 1884
sent to Piggott some papers on international law, and their
recipient suggested a meeting in Rome. ‘I feel sure that your
Lordship will attribute to me a motive higher than mere
arrogance when I say that I believe I could be of some service
in assisting to bring about the end which is so much to be
desired. . . . T would ask your Lordship also {o believe that
personal aggrandisement or reward is not the first object I
have in view in this matter.’”® Several letters followed to
various individuals, including the Prime Minister, urging that
the conference be held, until eventually Piggott prepared a
draft convention and forwarded it to the Foreign Office. In
September 1887 he was authorised to proceed to Rome as a

This book is an autobiography by Fruncis Tuyvior Piggoit's elder son. Mabel
Pigzott digd, in her Mnd year. in 1949, surviving Sir Francis by twenty-four
vears amd one dav. She seems to have been a capable woman. mainly
remembered for her founding ¢f the Colonial Nursing Association, which she
describes in " “You Would Hardly Believe 1t 77 (1910} 68 Nineteenth Century
and After 148,

® See appendix below,

Pauncefote was in private practive in Hong Kong 1863-73, being aiso Auorney

Gengral I86A-72 amd member of the Executive and legislative Coungils. It

may be that he wsed his influenee o have Pigeott sefected for the Chief Justice-

vhip of Hung Kong in 1904, o post he had himself intermittentdy fillad whenever

the incumbent wis ¢n leave.  Pauncefote was a friemd of Wu Tling-fang. W

whum Pigeatt appealed when seeling a position in Ching (p 382 helow),

See alvo R B Mowat. The Live «of Lord Panncefeie dondon: Constable, §1929)

<h 3.

* Pigpont o Geanville, Sept 17, 1884 No 220 Foreizn Oftice Confidential Print
No FO2, April ISRS (Fapers Reapecting the Cendificativn «of Private International
Law, J8N2-188: FOIRST, This confilentind  print, and ity continuation
{Further Papers . . O abho in FO323 7. provide the souree Tor the other facts
in the teal relatiog te this anpest of Piugotts arlv career,

Y
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Jurist engaged by Her Majesty's Government to discuss his
draft, but nothing came of it (due to opposition from Bis-
marck) except a payment to Piggott of £364.12.0 as fees.
Similarly, a Bill for the more speedy execution in the United
Kingdom of judgments obtained in Indian and colonial courts,
submitted by Piggott on October 5, 1885, was not proceeded
with. In 1887 he raised this matter at a colonial conference
in London and the general principle that something should be
done was approved.®

These attempts at reform failed in their immediate
object, but their author's name was at least placed before
influential officials. When the Japanese government request-
ed the British to recommend an adviser to assist with the
drafting of a new constitution, Sir Julian Pauncefote suggest-
ed Francis Piggott.”

Constitutional adviser in Japan and the Behring Seaq arbitration

On November 17, 1887 Piggott left England on a three-year
appointment to Japan. His task was {o advise the Japanese
Prime Minister, Count Hirobumi Ito, on certain aspects of
English common law which might be relevant to the proposed
new Meiji constitution.® The outstanding feature of this
document, he said, was its purely Japanese character; his role
and that of the other foreign advisers was to be available as
‘living books of reference.’ His only contribution to the
preparation of the constitution was the elucidation of various
points of law.? Piggott’s time in Japan aroused a life-long
interest in that country and an apparently genuine friendship
with Ito. Piggott published three books on the aesthetic side
of Japanese life; he assisted in founding the Japan Society of

*See Lugard to Harcourt, No 217, June 2. 1911: COI129/378. Piggotlt
continued to urge reform in this area. as indicated by ibid and Hong Kong
Hansard 1908 13. See also appendix item 46.

T Piggott was at this time, recalied Sir W E Davidson in 1913, a very hard-
working barrister who was struggling to get on: minute on Price to Grey,
private, Jan 8, 1913: FO371/1614 (1164).

* See H J Jones. Live Machines: Hired Foreigners and Mviji Jupan (Vancouver:
University of British Columbia Press, 1980).

* Broken Thread, op cit, 7. and Piggotts article ‘The Ito Legend: Personal
Recollections of Prince 110’ (appendix itom 19). The literature concerning the
drafling of the Meiji constitution does not refer to whatever contribution Piggott
may have made. See George M Beckmann, The Making of the Meiji Constitu-
tion (Lawrence, Ks: University of Kansas, 1957) ch 6 and George Akita.
Foundations of Constitutional Government in Modern Japan 1868-1900
{Cambridge, Mass: Harvard UP, 1967) <h 4.
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London; he subsequently visited the country many times, being
received by the emperor on his last trip in 1911; and his first
son became a Japan specialist in the British army.!"

Returning to England early in 1891 Piggott preparcd
various works for publication and probably resumed private
practice of the law. He cbviously had a taste for official life,
though, and went to Paris as secretary to the Attorney General.
Sir Charles Russel], for the Behring Sea arbitration. This wus
an ad hoc appointment for which he received only expenses,
subsistence allowance and gratuity.'' The basic issue posed by
the Behring Sea dispute — the freedom of the seas — was the
subject of Piggott’s researches after his retirement.

Appointment to Mauritius

At the end of 1893 Piggott was offered the post of
Procureur- and Advocate-General of Mauritius (equivalent to
Attorney General). He accepted and thus, at the relatively
mature age of 41, he embarked on a new career with the colonial
civil service which was to end with his reluctant retirement
from Hong Kong in 1912.

In what was to become characteristic, Piggott's name first
prominently appears in the Mauritius despatches in relation to
a dispute. He had disagreed with the Governor and the
Executive Council and had refused to argue a test case before
the courts or to promote legisiation which he disliked.'* Yet
after this incident, when the ruling on principle went against
him, he apparently settled down for some years to a fairly quiet
life of hard work. In his spare time he wrote his first novel
under the pseudonym of Hope Dawlish. He was intensely
ambitious, aspiring to promotion in the administrative rather
than the legal branch of the service. Despite being told
personaliv by the Secretary of State for the Colonies, Mr
Joseph Chamberlain, in 1898 that he should not hope for an
administrative post, he frequently applied to be transferred. In
1901 the Governor of Mauritius sought to appeoint Piggott as
Acting Colenial Secretary, but opinion in the Colonial Office was
firmly opposed:

" Bredea Thread, op cit. passim, Major-Gueneral Francis § G Piggott died in
1946, His brother was namad Julian lto after their father’s patron in the
Forcign Office and emplover in Japan,

¥ Minute by Davidson on Price to Grey. private, Jan R, 1913: FO37 71614
{1164,

3 erlnin:.:h::m to Ripun, cunfidentinl. Sept 7. Bdyod: TOIOT 683,
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‘T do not think Mr Piggott would be suitable for the oflice
of [officer administering the government]. He is not
tactful and is very unpopular with the French element. 1
think he weuld be unable to manage the Council of

Government at all successfully. It would moreover give Mr

Piggott a handle for pressing us to make him a Governor

which he has been very anxious we should do.”**

Piggott was not daunted by his rejection: he appealed
against the decision and again sought a gubernatorial
appointment. He did not, he wrote, profess to be a rich man:
‘During the years I have lived in Mauritius, which have been
years of unremitting labour, I have had to sacrifice domestic
comfort and social entertainment to the superior claims of the
education of my two boys.’ That part of his private duty was
nearly accomplished, and if it be his good fortune to be appointed
to a governorship, ‘I believe that I shall not be an unsuccessful
administrator, and I can assure the Secretary of State that the
social position which it is so important for a Governor to
maintain, will not suffer any loss of dignity at my hands.”*! He
was soon afterwards offered the post of Attorney General in
British Guiana. He initially accepted but later, to the
consternation of Colonial Office clerks, declined the
appointment.’® In June 1903, with the support of his chief in
Mauritius, he applied for the governorship of Sierra Leone. He
was again disappointed. The Legal Assistant Under-Secretary
minuted that Piggott was industrious and enthusiastic and
possessed wide knowledge, but he was inaccurate at times and
disliked the legal duties which were his primary responsibility
and which he scarcely carried out anyway. ‘He is as ambitious
and persistent as anyone I know and he is unfortunately
inclined to want of tact’® In reply, Piggott catalogued the
administrative tasks he had undertaken and once more

3 Minute by Bertram Cox. Aug 13, 1901, on Bruce to Chamberlain, private, July
13, 1901: CO167/740.

' Piggott to Bruce, Sept 6, 1901, enclosure in Bruce to Chamberlain, secret,
Scpt 8, 1901: COI167/741.  See also Piggott to Cox. private, Dec 8, 1901 ibid.
Chamberlain's reply to Bruce on Qct 24, 1901, ibid. was as usual: that Piggott
must ook for promotion in the legal branch of the service and that his name
would be considered when suitable vacancies occurred.,

3 Bruce to Chamberlain, t¢l, Feb 26, 1902: C0187/748; minutes on Bruce 1o
Chamberiain, tel, Mar 13, 1902: C0167/749.

* Minute by Cox on Bruce to Chamberlain, confidential, June 4, 1903:
CO167/758.
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unsuccessfully sought reconsideration.'?

His persistence in applving for movernorships irvitated the
Colonial Office Lut did not materially affect his prospects of
promotion to a colonial judgeship. He had been offered the post
of Chief Justice of the Leeward Islands but turned it down, and
in February 1904 he also declined appointment as a puisne judge
in the Straits Settlements:'® indeed. he took the offer of such a
lowly position as a personal insult.'™ When, the following
month, he applied for the governorship of the Seychelles he was
thought to be almost wanting in courtesy to the Secretary of
State in seeking a promotion he had repeatedly been told could
not be his.*" Nevertheless he continued to protest against the
lack of official recognition of his services®! and even applied once
more for the governorship of Sierra Leone on the curious ground
of impaired health. The Secretary of State warned that repeated
applications could not fail to produce an unfavourable impression
and damage his fufure prospects.=

Appointment to Hong Kong

In December 1901 Piggott expressed his disappointment at
not being made Chief Justice ¢f Hong Kong. ‘I confess that,
if words have any meaning, I was under the impression that 1
was to have the next CJship.’** His wife had previously written
to Mrs Chamberlain: ‘We are both devoted to the Far East
and of all Colonies, Hong Kong is the one we should have liked
to live in.®* Two yvears later Bertram Cox in the CO minuted:
‘Personally while I admire his energy I do not think that his
abilities are such as to justify our promoting him to sco hirh a
post as that of Chief Justice of Hong Kong, Cexlon or Jamaica

T Piggoltl to Bruce. Oct 8, 1903, enclosure in Bruce to Lyttelton, confidential,
Qct 10, 1903: CO167/759, Bruce spoke of the exceptional nature of Piggolt's
sorvices and commended him for the Secrctury of State’s most favourable
consideration.

I~ Bower to Lyvttelton, tel, Fob 26, 1904; COIRT/ 765,

¥ Piggelt o Bovwer, Mar 7. 1M, enclosure in Bower o Lyttelion, No 87, Mar 10,
1904, ihid. Onc ¢lerk minuwd: "Mr Pigeeit anpears 0 have a capacity for
fecling himewell invulicd almont Gallie”  In oo fit of pique. Piggott sought v
resign as chairman of the Wouods and Forests Board: Bower to Lyttelton. el.
Mar 7, 1902 ibad, Bertrmm Cox thousht this action wis improper, and nojed
the diflicuity of granting him premwotion in the legad service when he porsistal
in ~amling in hiv vwae light”

= Hower e Laitclton, el Mar 26, 1904: ibid,

U Bower w Latelton, confidenginl, Apr 26, 1903 Jand enclosures: COTOGT Tab,

haelien o Bower, confidential, Moy 23, gy ibid,

» Piggodl to Bertram Cox. private, Do 8, 1900 COGT 711,

T Mabe] Piggett o My Chamberlain, privade, Nov 7. 19011 ibid,
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over the heads of men of equal ability whose service has been
longer.** When, in December 1904, consideration was being
given {o Sir William Meigh Goodman’s successor, the Governor's
recommendation was the Attorney General, Sir Henry Berkeley,
who had previously been Chief Justice in Fiji and who had acted
in that position in Hong Kong. Neither Berkeley nor Piggott
was favoured, opinion in the Colonial Office supporting the claims
of the Attorney General of Jamaica. Nevertheless the Secretary
of State, Mr Alfred Lyttelton, chose Piggott. No reasons were
given.

At that time Piggott was suffering a severe attack of
malaria and ‘brain trouble,” foliowing three and a half vacation-
less years of what he termed overwork in Mauritius.*¢ After
sorting out various business affairs in England he and his wife
embarked for Hong Kong, arriving in Japan on April 24, 1905
and meeting his former:employer, Marquis Ito. The newly
knighted Piggott first took his seat on the Bench in Hong Kong
on May 25, 1905.%7

In those days the Chief Justice was not provided with
official accommodation and the Governor, Sir Matthew Nathan,
invited the Piggotts to stay at Mountain Lodge,®® his summer
residence on the Peak. They arrived on June 26, 1905, not
leaving until nearly a year later. Nathan’s successor, Sir
Frederick Lugard, alleged that by the end of Nathan's period
in office the Governor and the Chief Justice were not even on
speaking terms.®® Initially, however, all was well: Nathan
wrote to his mother that the Piggotts were ‘very nice people’ and
‘pleasant guests’ to whom he later offered the house for the
winter.?® But the Piggotts apparently outstayed their welcome
and then sent Nathan a bill for the coal they left behind in the
cellar!™ At some stage there was a complete break between
Nathan and Lady Piggott, though the details are obscure.’?

* Minute dated Nov 19, 1903 on Bruce to Lyitelton, confidential, Oct 10, 1903:
CO167/759.

¥ Piggott to Nathan, June 19, 1905, enclosure in Nathan to Elgin, No 211,
Aug 23, 1906: C0129/335,

* See South China Morning Post, May 26, 1905, for details of the welcoming
coremony.

¥ Sec Katherine Mattack, This ix Hong Kong: The Stery of Governmoent House
{Hong Kong: Hong Kong Government, 1978) passim.

# Lugard to Crewe, No 63, Mar 11. 1909: CO129/355.

** Nathan to Mrs Nathan, No 52, July 11, 1905; No 57. Aug 8, 1905; No 63,
Sept 19, 1905: MS Nathan 117 {Bodleian Library, Oxford).

* Minute by Bertram Cox, June 2§, 1910: CO129/374,
% Sce MS Nathan 342, pp 152-80. Certainly Lady Piggott seems to have been
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The Hong Kong Law Reports and ather initintives

One of the first initiatives undertaken by the new Chief
Justice was the establishment of proper law reports. The
previous practice was to rely almost exclusively on reports of
cases in the newspapers, which were prepared by journalists
after obtaining the manuscripts of judgments. Since there were
no shorthand writers attached to the court, unwritten judgments
could not be accurately recorded, -Piggott’s proposal envisaged
the employment of both an otlicial stenographer and a locul
barrister to edit the judgments and arrange for their printing.
Nathan provided §2,000 fer this purpose, less than half the
tender submitted by the publisher of a fledgling newspaper,
South China Morning Post, Limited.*® Thus was the invaluable
Hong Kong Law Reports series established.®?

With the exception of law reporting, however, vu'tuailv
all of Piggott’s efforts at reform were defeated. ‘When I came
to the Colony,” he later protested, ‘I found the Supreme Court in
a state of most lamentable inertness and. far below its proper
standard of efficiency as the Supreme Court of so important a
Colony: laissez faire and laissez aller seemed to be the chief
features of the administration of justice.” But his attempts to
improve the institution were met with ‘steady and continuous
refusal of assistance.™ One of his first proposals was three-
fold: an increase in the number of Supreme Court judges from
two to three, the holding of criminal sessions bi-monthly instead
of monthly, and provision of an aliowance to support a private
secretary for the Chief Justice.”® None of these requests was
granted. He made numerous representations about Ileave
provisions, but without success;** he compared his salary with

difficult at tmes: see Nuthan to Mrs Nathan, No 106, Tuly 14, 1906, and
No 140, Feb 18, 1907: MS Nathan I8,

= Piggot to Nathan, June 3. 19053, and Nathan te Pigeett, June 26, 1905,
enclosures in Nathan to Figin, contidentinl, Mav 23, 1906: COI29/334,

* For more infurmation on kaw reporting it Hong Kong sce Wasley-Smith, “Legal
Literature in Hong Rong' (Hong Kong: Centre of Asian Studies, 1979) paras
12 and HIS-1L.

# Pigzent to Lugard, Mar 23, 1900, enclosure in Lugurd 1o Crewe, Nu 97, Apr 16,
199: COIIN'356,

* Nathan to Elgin, confidentinl, May 23, 1won: COI2Z9354; Nathan e Blgie,
confidentinl, Sept 7. 1906 COI29 335, Pigoott wanted 3 young Faglishman
as his clerk “who wonld Jdo the 101 things which intwerfore with mawe seriouns
wark™s MS Nathan 336,

< Pigeotl to \mrnhlh privite. Apr 120 W6 COR29 3470 Nathan 1o Figio,
Na 2HE Neg 23, 1906 CON297338; Lugnnd to Crone, No 1L Apr 23, s
COIIv 34T lil'sdr\l W Crewe, No 3260 Nan 80 [u9: 028 33%,
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the mwere handsome remuneration enjoyed by the judge of the
Supreme Court at Shanghai®~ though failing to provoke for
himself a raise; and his observations on the effect that
fluctuations in the silver market were having on salaries were
termed ‘sheer undiluted drivel.™™ In February 1908 he applied
again for a governorship. One of the gqualities he claimed to
possess was ‘great tact, but A I Harris in the Colonial Office
minuted: ‘Only the most unmistakable snub is likely te have
any effect on such a man — and he fully deserves to receive it.,""
He was to receive many snubs thereafter, but none unmistakable
enough, for in April 1910 he sought appointment as Chief Justice
of Ceylon.*? This was not taken seriously.

The Eyrie

Upon leaving Mountain Lodge, Sir Francis and Lady Mabel
Piggott toock a lease of a house nearby named The Eyrie.
Piggott wanted to sub-let the house to Ho Tung, the wealthy
former comprador of Jardine, Matheson & Co, for three months .
while he took leave. There was an obstacle, however, in the
form of the notorious Hill District Reservation Ordinance,'*
which had been passed in 1904 to prevent Chinese from living
on the Peak — unless they were respectable enough to buy their
own property there or were servants, licensed chair coolies or
other species of local denizen generally useful to the white man.
Under section 4, the Governor in Council could exempt any
Chinese from the operation of the ordinance ‘on such terms as
the Governor-in-Council shall think fit.” No exemption was made
in respect of Mr Ho Tung when, in 1908, the Chief Justice was
tenant of the house which Ho Tung wanted to rent.

Lugard’s despatch reveals a rather prim and racist attitude
on the part of the Governor. Although, as Austin Coates has
recently pointed out, Ho Tung looked far more like George

a* Lugard to Elgin. No 220. Aug 31. 1907: CO129/341. Compare his letter
disputing the levy of income tax on an advance of sulary: Piggott to Under-
Secretary. Mar 17, 1905: CQO129.°327.

= Afinutc by Swubbs on Piggott 10 Under-Secrctary, Apr 17, 1910: CO129°374.
Sce also Piggolts correspondence with the Ciovernor concerning control over
police prosecutions. preparation of Bills and appointment of an Assistant
Attorney General: May to Crewe, confidential. Aug 31 and Sept 7, 1910:
CO129/368. Again, nonc of Piggotts proposals was accepted.

+ See enclosure in Lugard to Elgin. confidentinl, Mar 3. 1908: CQOI29/346.

 Piggott to Crewe, Apr 17, 1910: CO129/374,

¥ No 4 of 1904,
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Bernard Shaw than a prosperous Chinese businessman,*? the
Executive Council accepted that he must be considered Chinese
{or, technically, not non-Chinese) ; therefore he could only live
on the Peak above the 788 foot contour line if he bought hix
own property and lived in it (which he had in fact done two
years earlier) or was granted exemption in order to reside in
premises owned by someone else. The Ejyrie overlooked and
dominated Mountain Lodge, and thus the Governor would, in the
eves of ignorant Chinese, be subordinate to whoever made it his
home. This objection, wrote Lugard, ‘was emphasized by the
fact that the proposed tenant was an illegitimate half-caste
whose wives and Concubines numbered four.’** This was just
seven years before Ho Tung was knighted by the King.
Piggott claimed that the Governor in Council’'s refusal to
exempt Mr Ho Tung was illegal because not exercised reasonably.
Two reasons had been given for the decision but neither was
sufficient. If the government intended that no Chinese should
live in The Eyrie, exclusion was absolute in respect of that house
and this was not authorised by the ordinance; if the government
intended only that this particular Chinese should not live there,
the decision was arrived at in misconception of the facts and
was thus unreasonable and illegal.** But the Colonial Office did
not doubt the legality of the Governor’s action and did not
interfere. The power of exemption under section 4, the
Secretary of State ruled, could not be coupled with any kind of
legal duty. But Piggott protested:
‘With deference I cannot acquiesce in the advice which has
been given to the Secretary of State; it is, I believe, entirely
contrary to the fundamental principle which has been laid
down in a long series of decisions that . . . if a discretion

* Whampou: Shipy on the Shore (Hong Kong: South China Morning Post, L.
1980) 158

“ Lugard to Crowe. confidentinl, June 4, 1908: CO129/347. For further
information on Ho Tung and his domestic arrangements see Jean Gittins,
Eustern Windows — Western Skies (Hong Kong: South China Morning Post.
1969) and frene Cheng, Clara Ho Tuny: A Hone Kaeng Lady, Her Family ard
{ter Times {Hong Kong: Chinese University of Hong RKong. 1976). The
figure of jour wives uml Concubines is probubly false: according to lrene Cheng.
Ho Tung had two “equal wives” (pling t3'wi} and one concubine,

Y oPiegott w Lugand, May 27, 1908, enclosure in Lugard w Crewe. confidential.
June 4 1908 COI2Y: 347, Piggont claimed that the governmont was secking
to achivve by a side wind what it should do more legitimately, by purchasing
the property. It scems that Piggett had an ulterior motive which he was
hinself pursuing by mouns of 2 side wind: he wanted the government o buy
The Eyriv as a residence for the Chicf Justice.
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is vested in any authority, the exercise of that discretion is

subject to the legal duty to exercise it in a reasonable and

not in an arbitrary manner; and that the action taken can

only be justified if a reasonable explanation can be given.'*®

The Chief Justice had wanted the question referred to the
Law Officers of the Crown, since the Colonial Office decision was
taken on the advice of legal authorities whom he did not
recognise as superior to himself. He went further, suggesting
that it was unconstitutional for the government to decide in its
own favour a legal dispute with one of its servants; this was
especially so when one party was a judge unable to go before
the courts as a litigant. ‘With deference this puts the Chief
Justice in the position of being without legal redress, contrary
to the Charters of liberty.** But both reference to the law
officers and submission to friendly arbitration were denied, and
the Secretary of State emphatically refused to receive further
communications on the subject.

The siatus of the Registrar of the Supreme Court

In March 1908 Piggott reported Mr Arathoon Seth, Registrar
of the Supreme Court, to the Governor for insubordination and
complained of the conduct in this matter of the Colonial
Secretary.*®* Once again, neither the Governor*®* nor the
Secretary of State supported the Chief Justice. The Attorney
General (and Piggott's successor in office), Mr William Rees-
Davies, disagreed with Piggott’s view that the Registrar was
subject to control by the Chief Justice in the performance of all
his official duties.® One year after his initial complaint Piggott
wrote to Lugard that the necessity of Seth’s retirement was
urgent.’* The Secretary of State pronounced:

*. .-. I am strongly of opinion that the present absence of

good relations between the Government and the Chief

Justice is entirely due to the attitude which Sir Francis

* Piggott to Lugard, June 20, 1909, enclosure 1 in Lugard to Crewe, confidental,
Feb 12, 1909: C0O129/355.

7 Joid.

* Piggott 1o Lugard, Oct 5, 1908, enclosure 1 in Lugard to Crewe, No 263,
Qct 15, 1908;: CO129/348.

** Lugard thought Piggott’s position contrary both to established usage in the
colony and to general principles of administration: see Lugard to Crewe, No
154, June 11, 1908: CO129/347.

# Enclosure in Lugard to Crewe, No 247, Sept 23, 1908: C0129/348.

* Piggott to Lugard, Mar 23, 1909, enclosure in Lugard to Crewe, No 97, Apr 16,
190%; CO129/356.
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Piggott has thought fit to take up. I would add that if the
Chief Justice continues to be dissatisfied with the conditions
under which he holds office, it is open fo him at any time
to terminate his connexion with the public service.”™*

The jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts

On one issue in particular, Sir Francis Piggott’s failure to
win approval for his views must have been especially humiliating.
Harry H Fox, Consul General at Canton, refused to accede to a
request by the Supreme Court o transmit a writ of summons to
the ‘Namhoi magistrate’ for service on a Chinese defendant in
China. Section 42 of the Code of Civil Procedure,” as does
order 11, rule 1 of the present Rules of the Supreme Court,
purported to authorise service out of the jurisdiction in certain
situations where some element of intraterritoriality was
present.>* Fox denied that the Hong Kong legislature was
competent to claim jurisdiction where Chinese in China were
concerned. Piggott insisted that any question as to the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts was for Hong Kong judges
to determine. But both the Colonial Office and the Foreig:
Office disagreed with the learned author of Exterritoriality and
Service Out of the Jurisdiction and upheld the stand taken by
the Consul General.’?

At about the same time, Piggott CJ was developing in the
court room his radical theory that non-disallowed ordinances of
the Hong Kong legislature could not be challenged on the ground
of extraterritorial operation.®® This novel approach — which
argues that the Queen’s non-disallowance of an ordinance from
a ceded colony cures any alleged defect of extraterritoriality —
would, if accepted, have provided a complete answer to Harry
Fox’s objections.

FErecutive disapproval of judicial pronouncements

It is already clear that Piggott as Chief Justice had no
capacity for maintaining good relations with governors. Sir
Frederick Lugard complained to the Colonial Office that, prior

2 Crewe to Lugard, May 25, 1909: CO129/355,

* Ordinance No 3 of 1901,

# Qoo Langley 10 Colonial Office. No 42629 08, Dec 21, 1908: COIIY 353,

# See Forcign Office 10 Coloniad Oflice, No 43871 0%, Deg 21, 1908: ibid: Lugard
to Crewe. No 73, Mar I8, 1v@v: COI297355; Langley to Colunial Qtlice.
Nu 19736709, July 26, 1909: CO129/362.

¥ See Wesley-Smith, ‘Extraterritoriality and Hong Kong' {1980] PL 150, 162-6.
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to Piggott’s arrival in Hong Kong, governors had frequently
taken advantage of the ‘ready and willing counsel’ of the
Chief Justice in matters of large public importance; but with
Piggott, governors were reduced to indulging in interminable
and time-wasting correspondence instead.’ For his part,
Piguott lamented to Lugard that ‘on no single question small
or large, official or quasi-official, since Your Excellency has
been in the Colony, has Your Excellency agreed with me."™
Laugard’s official disagreements, and references to the Colonial
Office, even extended to the Chief Justice's judgments from
the Bench.

Piggott’s unreported judgment in Luwgard v Chu Ping
{1909) was sent to London with the plaintiff’s regret that the
Chief Justice had criticised the government so strongly, ‘and
in doing so should have chosen the expressiens which he has
used, which are calculated to lower the dignity of the Govern-
ment in the eyes of the Chinese who do not appreciate our
ideas of the mutual relations between the judiciary and the ..
Executive.”™ It can be doubted whether Lugard himself
appreciated ‘our’ ideas. The passages to which the Governor
most objected are worth quoting from at some length, for they
contain ciear and forthright statements of principle which
governments are prone to forget. The complicated facts of
the case, which concerned the rights of marine lot holders in
relation to the praya reclamation, do not need elaboration for
the following dicta to be understood.

‘Works which interfere with individual rights in the

public interest can only be undertaken by legislative

authority; and every step sheould be specially authorised.

« + « I am bound to point out that the Executive has no

right to embroider on to what the Legislature has pro-

vided other documents of their own devising.

« + « 1 have been trained in the striciest school of con-

stitutional law, more especially in its application to

Crown Colonies; a Legislature has been provided, and

the rights of that Legislature must be respected even in

the smallest detail. Further, in this case the rights of
individuals were being dealt with, and the greatest cir-
cumspection was necessary on the part of the Govern-

S* Lugard to Crewe, No 65, Mar 11, 1909: C0O1329/355.

% Pigpott to Lugard, Feb 13, 1909: enclosure in Lugard 10 Crewe, No 66, Mar 12,
1909; ibid.

% Lugard to Crewe, No 203, July 15, 1909; C0129/357.
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ment and its oflicers that everything should be done
regulavly. I have no notion of a Government passing an
Orvdinance, and then acting autocratically, as if no Ordin-
ance had been passed and doing what it thinks fit.
. . . Of coursc those Governors thought they were aci-
ing, and intended to act, in what they conceived to be
the bLest interests of the Colony:; but nothing justifies
independent action on the part of a Governor when he
has to deal with the rights of individuals and the rights
of the Government. He has a Legislature to fall back
on, and in ali cases of doubt he is bound to consult it, or
if prompt action is considered by his advisers to be
essential, then he is bound to come to the Legislative
Council afterwards to ratify what he has done. The
grant of a Legisiature to a Colony however small is part
of the great constitutional system which pervades the
Empire: the fact that there is a permanent Government
majority does not alter the constitutional principle, which
the very existence of the Legislature implies, that every-
thing must be done regularly and in order; and if any-
thing is done irregularly and out of order those officers
who so act, the highest or the lowest, must take the con-
sequences. And in the case of this agreement, and in-
deed of almost every act of the then Government in this
matter, the Ordinance has been treated as waste paper,
and the Legislature as non-existent.’
To its credit, on this issue the Colonial Office did not share
Lugard’s concern but recognised that a Chief Justice is justi-
fied in using strong words when he detects illegality by the
government.

The court vacailon and the right to tricd by jury

Under the Supreme Court (Vacations) Ordinance 1898%
the periods of vacation could be varied by rules made by the
Chief Justice and approved by the Legislative Council. In
September 1907 Sir Francis Piggott drafted a rule of court
extending all the court vaeations; the longy vacation was to
be increased by 42 dayvs, and Lugard asked the Chamber of

* Qe abvo Lugands guestioning of commeniy muade by Piggott from the Bench
(newes 30 and 31 below) and his implicd complaine regandiog Piggotts
sumnng ap in a eriminad cew: Lugaed to Harcowt condidentiad, May 4, 1931
COI129 377 Lugard o Harcourt, No 238, Jupe 19, 1911 CGH2Y 378,

“(No 16 of 189%) s 1.
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Commerce for its views. The chairman of the Chamber and
its representutive on LegCo, Mr E A Hewett, was influential in
opposing Piggott's initiative. There was no love lost between
Hewett and Piggott: in 1911 Hewett refused to sit on the Law
Committee in LegCo if the Chief Justice were present,™ and
in 1912 he unsuccessfully but outspokenly protested against
an increase in Piggott’s pension entitlement.® Heweti's action
with respect to the extension of the long vacation particularly
incensed the Chief Justice, who accused him of unfair tactics.®
When the China Mail editorialised against the proposed rule
of court® Piggott wrote to the editor on February 27, 1908
to express his opinion on the matter.® This action probably
contravened Colonial Regulations and Piggott was asked for
an explanation. He bitterly criticised the Governor for tak-
ing Hewetl's side:
‘T have had a long experience in official life, and I submit
without fear of contradiction that a more astonishing
disregard of the courtesies of correspondence could hard-
ly be imagined. My statements are ignored, my request
is disregarded, and the opinions of hostile critics are
accepted without the slightest communication being made
to me on the subject.'’
He maintained that the government's attitude was highly
prejudicial to the dignity of the Bench,” but that dignity,
observed the Secretary of State, was rather jeopardised by
the Chief Justice engaging in newspaper coniroversy.®
A further proposal for amendment of the law was
approved, although it came not from Piggott but from Hewett
and the Chamber of Commerce. It was alleged that the Chief

2 Lugard to Harcourt, confidential, May 6, 1911: CO129/377,

** Severn to Harcourt, No 153, Apr 23, 1912: CO129/389; Hong Kong Hansard
1912 20-1.

* China Mail, Feb 25, 1908; Pigpott 10 Lugard. undated, enclosure 2{IX) in
Lugard to Crewe, No 243, Sept 22, 1908: CO129/348,

** Feb 19, 1908,

** See Lugard to Crewe, No 155, June 11, 1908: CO129/347.

¥ Pigrott to Lugard, Oct §, 1908, enclosure 1 in Lugard 1o Crewe, No 263,
Qct 15, 1908: CO129/348.

¥ Enclosure 1 in Lugard to Crewe, No 635, Mar 11, 1809: CO129/3535,

* Although the Bar and the Law Society were in favour of an extension of the
vacauons {see China Mail, Mar 4, 1908). it seems that Pigpoti’s rule of court
was not approved, Later in 1909, when Piggott wanted to write for publication
an article of reminiscences about Prince Ito {sez appendix, item 19), he took
the precaution of asking whether there was any objection. Well aware by then
of Piggott’s character, the Foreign Office was unwilling to grant permission
without seeing a proof: Piggott to Under-Secretary, Dec 7, 1909: C0O129/364.
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Justice dishelieved in triul by jury in civil matters and, when
he refused an application for a jury to determine matters of
fact, he became in effect the sole judge for the disposal of
important commercial litigation because his decisions were
invariably upheld by the two-man Full Court and the Privy
Council would not interfere where questions of fact were
concerned. Piggott had ‘practicallr become a despot.” Yet
the mercantile community had no faith in his impartiality.,
This serious charge, made privately to the Governor, could not
be properly investigated: even were a Royal Commission
appointed, the whole legal profession would support Piggott
‘of whom they lived in terror, fearing professional ruin . . .”*
It was proposed to amend the Code of Civil Procedure so as
to give litigants a right to trial by jury, but despite approval
from the Secretary of State, no alteration of the law seems to
have been made.

The revision of the laws

For some reason which does not appear from the records,
Sir Francis Piggott was chronically short of money while in
Hong Kong. Indeed, the Governor reported in 1911 that his
financial embarrassments had become little short of a
scandal.™ In order to ameliorate the Chief Justice's indebted-
ness Lugard had offered Piggott the task of preparing the
regular revision of the ordinances for a new edition. He had
done the same kind of work in Mauritius. (‘How anyone,’
it was later minuted in the Colonial Office, ‘who had ever
seen the Mauritius Revised Laws could imagine that Sir F
Piggott was fitted to revise the Hong Kong Laws I do not under-
stand.”™) The remuneration demanded and reluctantly ac-
cepted was far higher than the Executive Council originally
intended to provided, yet Piggott continually, though unsuc-
cessfully, pressed for a very large increase. And when the
first two volumes were submitted on May 23, 1912 they were
found to contain numerous mistakes. Claude Severn, the
Acting Governor, insisted on a careful and independent
scerutiny of the work done with the cost of reprinting flawed
pages to be borne by the compiler. Piggott claimed copy-
right in the work and threatened te defend his interests in
 Lagand o Crewe. vonfidential, Aug 13 1909 COIMY 35T, See alsa No 233 of

the same date, boumd in the same volume,

' Luganl 1o Harcourt, contidential, Doc 29, 1911 CQI129 390,
= Minute on May to Harcourt, contidential, July 30, 1912: COI124 v,
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the courts. This was a successful tactic and led to a settle-
ment, but the colonial government was enraged: ‘it cannot be
suflficiently deplored that work of this nature was entrusted
to a reviser who, however able and industrious, has proved
to be entirely untrustworthy.”™ One volume of Piggott's did
in fact appear in print,™ but the complete revision of the
ordinances up to the end of 1912 was alleged to have been
prepared by C G Alabaster.™

The episode of the revised edition led to a further financial
humiliation for Piggott when A B Suffiad, his clerk, sought
assistance from the government in recovering a sum of $600
for clerical work associated with the project.” Issue of a writ
had only been avoided by the Acting Attorney General paying
3100 ocut of his own pocket.’ Piggott explained that his
promise of payment to Suffiad was a pure act of generosity
without consideration, though he would fulfil the promise as
soon as convenient.’* The Colonial Office was unsympathetic

and threatened to deduct the outstanding amount from Piggott’s ..

pension, but the by then former Chief Justice of Hong Kong
was not to be intimidated: deduction from pension was illegal,
he asserted, and the attitude of the Colonial Office was
vindictive.”® Downing Street lost confidence in its initial legal
diagnosis and, with Piggott’s assurance that the money would
eventually be paid, the matter disappeared from the files.

A new court of appeal for Hong Kong

Objection having been taken to Piggott’'s own suggestion
that a third judge be appointed to the Supreme Court in Hong
Kong, litigants unhappy with the decision of the Chief Justice
at first instance had no effective avenue of appeal except to the
Privy Council on matters of law. As president of the Full
Court, the Chief Justice could ensure that the judgment under
appeal was affirmed,?? despite widespread dissatisfaction with the
quality of justice in Piggott’s court {‘it was a matter of common
knowledge,” one allegation went, ‘that if a client wished to win

** Severn to Harcourt, confidential, June 27, 1912: C0129/390.

** Al least. it is listed in Leslie F Maxwell {comp). A Leval Bibliography of the
British Commonwealth of Nations {2nd ed 1964) vol vii,

% See Hong Kong Hansard 1913 65.

¥ May to Harcourt, confidential. June 17. 1914: COI129/411.

¥ May to Harcourt, secret, June 15, 1914: jbid

™ Piggou to Under-Secretary, July 29, 1914: C0129/419.

™ Piggott to Under-Secretary, Aug 2§ and Qct 15, 1914: ibid.

* See, g, Hong Kong Hansard 1912 38,
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his case it was advisable for him to engage a particular Solicitor,
and a particular Counsel both of whom were favoured by the
Chief Justice™'). The proposed solution was to constitute a
three-man court of appeal in Hong Kong by bringing in the
judge of His Majesty’s court at Shanghai.®® A Bill was drafted
to implement this scheme, but Piggott was strongly opposed and
the whole thing was abandoned: nothing further was to be done
until Piggott’s retirement.™ The Secretary of State for Foreign
Affuirs reluctantly concluded that the correspondence displayed
‘a complete absence of that spirit of cordiality and good will on
the part of the Chief Justice without which the scheme could
never have succeeded.”™ The main obstacles in Piggott’s mind
were precedence (he wanted it recognised that the Chief Justice
should preside in his own court because of the necessity of
maintaining his prestige)™> and reciprocity (which was
impossible) .*®

The government blamed Piggott’s personal hostility for the
initial failure of the proposal, though the Chief Justice himself
thought the scheme unpractical because of the increase in
appellate work." The Acting Governor, F H May, urged in
Qctober 1910 that a proper court of appeal was an urgent
necessity.*® Eventually, following the decision that Piggott be
retired soon after turning 60, the Governor was instructed to
adopt the scheme. But. to the surprise of the Colonial Office,
Lugard then sent a despatch indicating that prominent legal

™ Lugard to Crewe. confidential. Aug 13, 190%: COI129/357. See also minutes
on Lugard to Crowe. confidential, June 23, 1909: CO129/336 and Stubbs’
minute. claiming that Piggont’s judgments in Hong Kong had liitle respect. on
Lugand to Harcourt. confidential, Mar 8, 1911; CO129/376,

** Lugard o Elgin, ccafidential. Apr 7. 1908: CO129/347.

** See enclosure 3 in Lugard to Crewe. No 263, Oct 15, 1908: CO129/348: Lugard
to Crewe, confidential. Jan 26, 1909 COI297353: Lugard 10 Crewe, confidential,
June 23, 1909 CO1297356: Langhky to Colonial Office. No 3223708, Mar 11,
1909: COI2ZY 300 Langky 10 Colonial Oiffice, No 31023709, Aug 24, 1909:
COI129, 362,

** Langley 1o Coloninl Office. No 8223 09, Mar 11, 1904 COI29 3l Pigrott
comiderad this @ covert imputation on his probable conduct ay a julge and
threatenad to weok the protection of the Lord Chancellor: enclosure 2 in Lugard
o Harcourt, centidentinl, Dee 29, 911 COI29 381,

T Pigeoit o Lugard., Feb 23, 190X, endlosure 7 in Lugard o Elgin, confidential.
Apr 7. 1R COI2Y 3370 enchosare §in Lugand o Crowe, confidential, July 23,
1909 CON2Y 337 of Pigeoit o Lagend, Jan 30 19087 COI9738E,

™ Pogand to Piggot, (01 6, IR, enclosurg 3 in Luganrd w Crewe, No 263, Qo 15,
1908 COI29: 348,

=T Piggoll to Crewe, Apr 17, 1910 CO 374

* May o Urewe, cuntidential, Ot 220 ala: COL2Y 369,
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personnel in Hong Kong in effect agreed wilth Piggott.® The
plan went through anyway, incorporated in the Full Court
Ordinance 19120

This issue did more than anyvthing else to foreshorten
Piggott's career in Hong Kong. Reginald Stubbs minuted that
the Chief Justice had been intolerably offensive about the
proposal and that the Foreign Office would not expose their
judge to his insults."* Sir F Hopwood accused Figgott of being
a ‘champion obstructer of speedy and indifferent justice,™* and
it was in this context that the Colonial Office determined to be
rid of him.

Retirement

From 1908 onwards the clerks in the Colonial Office, who
routinely read governors’ despatches and commented on them,
expressed increasing hostility towards Sir Francis Piggott.
‘The man is becoming intolerable and wants suppressing’; ‘He
certainly ought to be suppressed: but nothing short of a
sledgehammer would do it.’*® ‘These letters could not be written
by 2 man who was quite in his right mind’; ‘The disease from
[which] Sir FP is obviously suffering does not fall within the
domain of medicine.’™ (The Secretary of State himself
minuted in 1908: ‘I suppose the CJ is technically sane.’®)
‘Sir F Piggott's conduct in this and other matters has been so
extraordinary that I have had grave doubis as to whether
such mental balance as he at one time may have possessed
{never I think, very well poised) has not become deranged
by hot climate, knight bachelorhood, chief justiceship or
possibly a little of all three.'®

In March 1909 Stubbs proposed attempting to annoy
Piggott into resigning,¥ and a few months later another of the
clerks wrote: ‘The moral of it all is that there ought to be
some way of getting rid of incompetent or cantankerous Cls

® Lugard to Harcourt, confidential, Dec 29, 1911: CO129/381.

* No 27,

" On Langley to Colonial Office. No 8223708, Mar 11, 1909: C0O129./360 and
lugard 10 Harcourt, confidential. Mar 8. 1911: C0129/376.

*> On Lugard o Crewe, confidential, June 23, 1909: CO129/356.

¥ On Lugard to Crewe, No 111, Apr 23, 1908: COI129/347,

* On Lugard to Crewe, No 243, Sept 22, 1908: CO129/348.

** On Lugard to Crewe, confidential, Oct 15, 1908: ibid.

* On Langley to Colonial Office. No 8223709, Mar 11, 1909; C0O129/360,

*7 Ibid; see also his minute on Lugard to Harcourt, confidential, Mar 8, 1911:
C0129/376.
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in Hong Kong and elsewhere.” Hong Kong law seemed to
provide a way under Pension Minute No 21, which purported
to permit the Governor in Council to require any judge or
other public officer to retire from the public service at any
time affer attaining the age of 60 years. Stubbs urged that
notice be given immediately. ‘It is quite clear, I think, that
Sir F Pigyott is actively mischievous (or mischievously active)
and ought to be got rid of.™ But A E Collins doubted the
vires of the Pensions Minute: subsidiary legislation requiring
retirement could not be authorised by the Pensions Ordin-
ance.! He suggested that the minute be re-enacted as primary
legislation,” and an amendment® to the Pensions Ordinance,
known locally as ‘the Piggott Relief Ordinance,” was accord-
ingly passed in 1910.° ‘Every day that he stays,’ minuted
Stubbs, ‘seems to me to increase the risk of some more than
usually eccentric action or judgment which will lead to a pub-
lic petition for his removal from office.’®

On October 30, 1911 Piggott was informed of the
Governor in Council’s decision that, as it had been decided to
establish an appeal court in Hong Kong which could not
operate until affer his retirement, he must leave the service
on or before April 30 next. (Piggott’s 60th birthday was on
April 25, 1912.) He contended that this decision was not
made independently and reasonably, and he declined to be
‘discharged like a Chinese coolie.” On reconsideration, the
Governor in Council informed him he must retire, in accord-
ance with the amended Pensions Ordinance, quite indepen-
dently of the establishment of the new court.”

* On Lugard to Crewe, confidentinl, June 23, 1909: COI129/356,

* On Lugard to Crewe, No 97, Apr 16, 1909: ibid.

*No 10 of 1862,

¥ Lugard to Crewe. confidential, July 23, 1909: CO129/357; and sce Hong Kong
Hansard 1910 10,

*No | of 191y,

* Minute by Risoy on Lugand to Harcourt. confidentiul, Mar &, 1911 CO129/
374,

*The new » 3 of the Pensions Ordinance read: "The Governor-in-Council may
{subjoct as regards officors appointed under instructions from or through the
Secrctary uf State fur the Colonies, 1o the approval of such Seorctary of Statg)
require any Judge or other Public Otlicer 10 rotire from the Public Senvice
of the Coluny at any timwe after he wttains the age of My yeary,' The
lotters Pateat at that time tpromulgated on Jan 319, 18881 did out contain
the spocial prosisions for the retiroment of judges which are manw in foree,
but simiply deeread that judges were 10 hold their oflices during pleasure.

*On Lugard 10 Hurcourt, confidentinl, Mar X, 19U COLY 374,

* Lugard W0 Harcourt, contidential, Doo 29, 1911 CO129 381
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The arguments of the Chief Justice in respense to this
apparently unexpected news are worth some aitention. The
Exceutive Council, he said, are the governor's sworn
constitutional advisers and are bound to give advice under the
Pensions Ordinance to the best of their ability; he implied that
the order of the Secretary of State could not be a suflicient
reason for the Governor in Council’s decision, for it destroyved
the independent exercise of ihe council’s advisory functions.
No just cause for ‘dismissal’ had been alleged. No proper
reasons had been given. And no man could be deprived of his
rights without a hearing. Piggott conceded, ‘although the point
is not free from doubt,” that in exercise of prerogative powers
the Secretary of State could dismiss a colonial judge without
giving reasons. ‘With regard to other civil servants this is
established law.” But the Secretary of State had not professed
to act under the prerogative. ‘[It] is unquestionable that the
arbitrary exercise of power is unknown to the law of England
save in the sole instance of the exercise of the King's prerogative,
the sanction in respect of an abuse of this power being in
Parliament. No man can be deprived of his rights without just
reason given,” subject only to perogative powers not exercised
in this case.®

How correct were Piggott's arguments? With respect to
dismissal and related executive action the courts have heen
reluctant to permit public law remedies,” and thus relief by
way of certiorari or declaration might not have been easy to
secure, even assuming that the Supreme Court in Hong Kong
would have heard an application by a fellow judge claiming to
be invalidly required to retire and thus in law still the president
of that court. But there seems little doubt that, in exercising
statutory powers of such consequence, the Governor in Council
was under a duty to comply with the rules of natural justice.
Piggott should have been given an opportunity to be heard before
the decision was made and he should have been informed of the
case against him. The Privy Council had indeed applied the
first of these principles to Piggott himself in 1909. The Chief
Justice had made a committal order against the appellants under
section 23 of the Supreme Court Ordinance 1873,'" which
empowered a judge in certain situations to deal with an

* Piggolt to lLugard. Dec 1, 1911, enclosure | in ibid.
*Sce the case commentary at (1979) 9 HKLJ 337,
“No 12 of 1873,
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*

individual ‘as for a contempt of the Court.) Pigmott later
confirmed hix order and the Full Court. consisting of Piggott CJ
(with the deciding vote) and Wise J, dismissed an appeal — but
the Judicinl Committee vescinded the committal order because
‘the Chief Justice should, before ~entencing [the appellants].
have given them an opportunity of giving reasons aguinst
summary measures bheing taken,'"!

In addition, it is probable that the decixion to retire the
Chief Justice was ultra vires for the further reuason put for-
ward by Piggott, that the Governor in Council had not
exercised his judgment independently and had improperly
taken into account the order of the Secretary of State. A
recent Hong Kong case illustrates the reasoning:. when the
Director of Agriculture and Fisheries obeyed an order of the
Governor in Council that game hunting be prohibited, his
blanket refusal to issue hunting licences under the Wild
Animalis Protection Ordinance!® was declared to be contrary
to law. The directive of the Governor in Council

‘put the Director of Agriculture and Fisheries in a most

invidious position. In his capacity as such Director he

must perform his duty in accordance with the directive.

In his capacity as licensing authority he must exercise his

discretion independently and judicially to the best of his

ability in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance

« « » [We] regret to say that he has not exercised this

discretion because he felt his discretion was fettered by

the directive of the Executive Council . . .'®
Similarly, the Executive Council when requiring Piggott CJ
to retire was apparently merely comnlying with the directive
of the Secretary of State for the Colonies and was not indepen-
dently and properly exercising its discretion under the Pen-
sions Ordinance.

It may be that Piggott’s arguments persuaded the
Colonial Office that the Governor in Councils action was
ineffective. In any event. it wax decided to guarantee the

U Chany Hanedic v Piocon 115w AC 320 NS08 Compare Be Pollund
HINANY LR 2 PO 6h, an apeeal from o contemet ruling by Saade € dtor
hackground information on this case see J W Noron Kyshe, Tl Hivzory of
the Laws and Conris of Hong Koz tloadon: T Fisher Unwin, 18983 vol
i 122-30),

Uap 170, LHK 1978 od.

R the ilony Kowsr Heney Asociaiion Lad 11980 HIRT R 179 g 1108
11 HRLY 3, See adwo Chee Quan-fiee, «x p Howr Tune Scleel 1003 HRLR
Ny, NTTSN,
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removal of the Chief Justice by resorting {o prerogative
powers, On March 15. 1912 the Secretary of State issued a
notification declaring His Majesty's pleasure that Sir Francis
Taylor Piggott should cease to hold office from and after April
30, 19124

Piggott goes to China

Even before prerogative powers were relied upon to retire
him, Piggott was casting about for further employment. He
wrote to Sir John Jordan, British Minister at Peking, to ask
that his name be remembered if the new republican Chinese
government considered appeointing a legal and constitutional
adviser,” and in May the press reported that he had in fact
accepted such a post.’® But this was not so. Piggott dis-
cussed the matter with Sir Kai Ho Kai, one of the Chinese
Legislative Councillors in Hong XKong, who put him in touch
with Dr Wu T'ing-fang.’™ As Piggott was leaving Hong Kong
for Peking to begin lobbying for the position, however, the
Foreign Office, on its own initiative, instructed Jordan to ex-
press doubt to the Chinese government.’®* The Colonial Office
approved the draft of a telegram sent to Jordan which
referred to Piggotf's ‘peculiar temperament’ and the ‘constant
friction’ likely to surround him if appointed.’®* Piggott was

¥ Minutes on Lugard to Harcourt, No 345, Oct 4, 1911: C0129/380. As the
notification pointed out, the Supreme Court Ordinance 1873 declared that
judges held office at pleasure.

' Piggott to Jordan, private, Feb 22, 1912, enclosure in Jordan to Langley,
private, May 31, 1912: FO371/13M6 (26074).

1 See South China Morning Post, May 7, 1912, citing the North China Daily
News: FO371/1346 {23102). See also previous rumours, as in South China
Morning Post, Apr 25, 1912: ‘Nothing,” the Japan Mail had said, ‘could
condugce more to the stability of the Chinese Republic in Western eyes than
its association with a juris-consult of such altogether exceptional ability and
reputation as Sir Francis Piggott. He would be a second Sir Robert Hart in
some respects and a greater Sir Robert Hart in others.’

¥ As Ng Choy, Wu (who was Ho Kai's brother-in-law) was admitted to practise
at the Hong Kong Bar on May 18. 1877, the first Chinese to join the profession.
He was mads 2 member of the Legislative Council in 1580 but later went to
China as legal adviser to Li Hung-chang and as diplomat (he was Ambassador
to Washington 1897-1902 and 1907-9). He joined the republican cause and
was Minister of Justice in Sun Yat-sen's provisional government in Nanking.
Sce Norton Kyshe, op cit. vol i, 261, 297, 491: Lo Hui-min (ed), Tic
Correspondence of G E Morrison vol ii: 1912-1920 {(Cambridge: Cambridge
UP, 1978) 57n; Luk, ‘A Hong Kong Barrister in Late-Ch'ing Law Reform’
{1981) 11 HKL] 339,

1 Grey 10 jordan, tel, No 89, June 3, 1912: FO371/1346 {23187).

* Grey 1o Jordan. tel. No 121, July 30, 1912: ibid (30223); Langley to Colenial
Office, confidential, No 30223/12, July 12, 1912: C0129/395. Swbbs claimed
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informed of the British government’s intervention and pro-
tested vigorously,™ and in October his appointment as legal
adviser was again erroneously announced in the press.®

It is probable that the Foreign Office opposition was
decisive in denying Piggott the position he sought.> Mabel
Piggott’s brother-in-law, Sir Robert Price MDP, wrote privately
to the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs on his behalf®
but to no avail, and Piggott was reported to be near bank-
rupicy;*! he threatened to demand compensation. Ile stayed
in Peking for most of 1913, obtaining a couple of temporary
semi-official jobs with the Chinese government™® and publishing
his rather patronising Letters on the Chinese Constitution,
but he never received the substantive appointment he desired.
He kept protesting until 1915.77 In the meantime the former
Chief Justice returned to Hong Kong as a junior barrister.

Return to the Hong Kong Bar

Desperately short of money, Piggott had decided to re-
enter private practice. The Acting Governor, advised by the
Attorney General that there was no legal objection to Piggott's
admission to the local Bar, was alarmed. The Colonial Olfice
agreed that the situation was undesirable, though it could not

that the general opinion among those who knew Piggott well was that he was
no longer wholly sane. And see Piggott’s bitter and abusive private letter to
Alston. Nov 19, 1912: FO371/1346 (51384).

* Jordan to Grey. confidential, No 338, Aug 8, 1912; ibid {35631).

* Morning Post, Oct 7, 1912: ibid (13842).

= Liang Shih-¥i to Piggott, Dec 30, 1912, enclosure 2 in Jordan to Grey, No 4,
Jan 6. 1913 FO3IT71/1614 (2950). It was aot orly the Forcign Office, with
the approval of the Colonial Office. that lobbicd aguinst the appointment: Sir
Henry May wrote to G E Morrison. who was an adviser o the Chinese
government. that he hoped Piggoit would not be emploved in China. *He's
not a sound lawyer and I question whether he is sound in any sense™: Lo
Hui-min, op cit. 13-19.

* Price to Grey, private, Jan 8, 1913: FOITI/1814 (1164).

* Price o Groy, private. Feb 14, 1913: ibid (8588).

* Piggott o Jordun, Jan 1, 1913, cnclosure 4 in Jordun to Grey, No 4. Lun &,
1913 ihid (29500,

™ Alton to Langley. Nov 1. 1913: ibid 32315,

F Pizgett to Alton, Mar 23 and 28, 1915 FO37i 2329 134309 Apr 13, 1913
ibid (3359297 Pigeott 1o Grev, May 1. 1915 ibid (53806) trefining to em! the
correspondense: I hardly oy in thy mewth of o person who has wronaeed
anuther to say that he i net 10 point owd o him that hie has agted uniusiivy,
Agvonding o Lo Hul-min, op cit, 2. Pigrott threstened legal action to comped
the Chinewe government to empfoy him, AL one point he acoised Morrison of
compiicity in the affair (Piggott W Al~tan, Mar 28, 1918 FO3IT] 23
£34309) 1, though almost certadnby unfairly tsee To Hui-min, op cit, T, He
abo blamod Yuan Shih-kais chief private sceretary of Blucking his appoimment
Tor personal rensomy; FOIT] 1930 159835,
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be avoided.™ DPiggott was duly admitted and appeared before
the Full Court® where he criticised a magisirate for failing o
give effect to Piggott CJ's ruling in an carlier case!™ After
Piggott’s ignominious final departure from Hong Kong in
1914, Lugard's successor, Sir Henry May, wrote to the Colonial
Office:

‘There is much indignation in the Colony at the injury

done by Sir F Piggott to the reputation of the judiciary

which, until his appointment to it, was absolutely un-
sullied, and there is a strong feeling that a Regulation
should be made precluding a pensioned officer who has
held a substantive appointment of a judge in a Crown

Colony from practising as a barrister or a solicitor in the

Colony in which he has held such appointment, and I

venture to suggest the making of such a Regulation.™
The Colonial Office declined to propose legislation on what
was, they hoped, a unique case.

Since Piggott's time, several Hong Xong magistrates and
District Judges have retired from the judiciary and gone into
unlimited private practice at the local Bar. No puisne judge
seems to have done so. In 1952 it was laid down that new
appointees to colonial judgeships must promise not to practise
thereafter in the territory to which they are appointed, but
the Secretary of State has usually permitted advisory and
consultative work not extending to advocacy in the courts.™
A former puisne judge in Hong Kong was admitted to a limited
practice in 1963 despite opposition by the Bar Association.®
The Piggott precedent, not referred to in that case, supports
those who would doubt the wisdom of allowing superior court
judges to appear as barristers in the courts from which they
have retired.

Illuess and return to England
While in Peking, near the end of QOctober 1912, Piggott

¥ Seven to Harcourt, tel, No 17, 1913: CO129/404.

= Re Chung Sau-nam (1914) 9 HKLR 26: sec also Chung Saw-nam v Luang Chal-
Awang (1913-13) 10 HRIR L

' Re Wong Ka-<cheong {1905) | HKLR L,

* May 10 Harcourt, secret. June 135, 1914: C0O129/311.

* Percy Chen recalls that, in the carly 1920s. the Chicf Justice of Trinidad retired
and entered private practice in that ¢olony. though with an undertaking not to
appear in count; Ching Called Me: My Life Inside rhe Chinese Revelution
{Bosion. Toronto: Liule., Brown. 1979) 31.

3 Re Courtenay Walton Reece [1963] HRKLR 326



VOLI2Z.NO 3 SIR FRANUIS TAYLOR PIGGOTT 288

was taken seriously ill und underwent an operation.™ A year
later he was reported tv be in ‘very low water,” considering
himself quite broken by IHMG's persecution of him™ and by
what he termed ‘a particularly low and infamous intrigue.™*
He could not have been in good health, therefore, when he
returned to Hong kong, and in April or May 1914 he had a
bout of severe asthma which drove a clot of blood to his brain.
He became temporarily demented and narrowly escaped
paralysis.  Medical advice was that he should go back to
England, but so deeply was he in debt that he could not pay
the hotel, doctor, nurse or passage. Sir Henry May sent him
home out of the vote for the relief of destitutes.™ A more
humiliating exit from the colony where he had for seven years
held the top judicial post could scarcely be imagined.
Financially embarrassed, in poor health, embittered and
frustrated, Sir Francis Piggott settled down in England for the
remaining years of his life. The goal of his ambition, he had
declared in 1911, had always been promotion to the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council; for fifteen years he had
worked towards it, and had published at his own expense his
various works on private international law.® Now he decided
to devote his time to the study of public international law,
with special reference to the law of the sea. He began a
series of original historical and legal works, of which only two
were published although at least four others were contem-
plated,® and a collection of reprints. The patiriotic objective
of his labours has been described as follows:
‘One of the anomalies of English history is the fate that
befell the chief weapon used by Great Britain to strike
down Napoleon: for not only was it discarded during the
nineteenth century in deference to foreign opinion, its
M Jordan to Grey, No 466, Nov 25, 1912: FO371/1348 1352464).
3% Alsten o Langley, Nov 1, 1913: FO371/1814 (32415).
3 Piggott to Alston, Nov 3, 1913, enclosure in Alston to Langley, Nov 4. 1913;
ibid (32416).
3 May 10 Harcourt, secret, June 13, 1914: CO129: 411,
= Pigeott 0 Lugard, confidentinl, Dec 270 1911, enclosure 2 in Lugard to
Hurcourt. confidential, Deg 29, 1911 TQIW/381.
=Wal i was A Dacunicaiars Hisiery of the Arimed Nearalities, 1780 and 180
(with G W T Omond; vol iv was The Doclaration of Paris, 13536, Sco items
AN and 3 of the appendix below, Vol @i and @il were given the titie of
Docrumieniary History of the French ars, 179321813, in two parts, and vals v
amd vi were projected as Privciphos Govornine the Relativas of Belliverent amd
Neureal, abwo din e paris, Seo Tae Briish Moscam Cataliogur of  Addition

to the Muamocripts 1931-7%33 (Lomden: Tiusteos of the British Muscum, 1967)
378,
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use being condemned as contrary to Internationul Law,
but even its natural advocates abandoned its defence.
The Dritish use of Sea Power, together with English con-
ceptions of the International Law relating to blockade,
contraband, etc, remained under condemnation until an
American admiral {Mahan) inferred, and the Great War
demonstrated, that the former British position might
indeed bear justification. A distinguished jurist, Sir
Francis Taylor Piggott . . ., approaching the study
from the historical and legal standpoint, undertook the
task of vindicating the British attitude.¥

The Times" considered his views ‘not whelly acceptable to

many jurists.’
‘He took what may be called a thoroughly pro-British
point of view* in regions where points of view are per-
haps less helpful than general principles and the logical
application of those principles to particular problems. On
the other hand his energy, enthusiasm, and cultured mind
did much to stimulate the study of international law in
days when it needs to be studied more severely than ever,
and it may well be that, in the perspective that finally
tests the authority of jurists, his labours will secure a per-
manent place.’
Sir Francis Piggott died in 1925, on the same day as Dr

Sun Yat-sen.

Conclugion

Piggott was certainly a quarrelsome fellow, imperceptive or
careless of the effect his eristic attitudes had on his colleagues
and unconcerned about the problems he created for them by his
unwillingness to compromise. He never doubted his own
capabilities or wearied of the struggle for advancement. With
an enormous capacity for hard work and with some talent, he
rose to one of the top positions in the colonial legal service —
vet his want of tact was as great as his ambition, and these
two aspects of his personality combined to bring him down. He
had his friends and admirers but they were far outnumbered
by his enemies and detractors.*?

** “The Piggott Papers’ (1931-32) 6 British Museum Quarterly 75-6.

* Mar 13, 1925.

2 ‘He would have asked for no higher praise’: Broken Thread, op cit, 199,

** Among his friends were counted Sir Kai Ho Kai, T B Clarke-Thornhill (a
Foreign Office functionary who had been with the British embassy in Peking),
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Long before he lett Mauritius he had utterly exasperated
the Colonial Office clerks whose opinions were so important to
a career in the colonial service, and it was only the unexplained
decision of the Secretary of State that sent him to Hong Kong.
He began his chief justiceship on good terms with Sir Matthew
Nathan, but relations between them soon deteriorated. Svon
after her arrival in Hong Kong in 1907 Lady Flora Lugard could
report that the Chief Justice was ‘a most cantankerous and
universally detested person.’** Her husband wrote:

‘He has a furor scribendi, and a natural hostility to

Administrative and Executive officers.* He lacks natural

dignity and tact but is immensely affable. . . . He at once

began firing off long letters at me, and raising all kinds of
complicated questions of years' standing before I had been
here a week.'t¢

After the affair of The Eyrie Lugard stated that ‘we are
by way of being great allies and friends’** — but they were not
allies and friends for long. Piggott became so notoriously
difficult to work with that, not only was he compelled to retire,
but his own country’s representatives intervened to frustrate his
plans for employment in China.*®* By the time he arrived in
Hong Kong his reputation for pugnacity was already well
established, and every dispute with Nathan, Lugard and May

C D Wilkinson of the Hong Kong solicitors' firm Wiikinson and Grist, and
possibly Joseph Kemp, Acting Attorney General in 1914 who had paid $100
to Suffiad out of his own pocket in order to avoid issue of a writ against the
former Chief Justice (see p 276 above). Piggott dedicated his book on
extradition ‘to my friend A V Dicey.” The extreme hostility of E A Hewait
has been noted above. Piggott apparently formed an extraordinacy dislike
of E H Sharp KC who, though leader of the Hong Kong Bar when Piggott
arrived, left the colony in 1906 and did not return until after Piggott's
retirement.  In the interval, ironically, it was said that he won two or three
cases in the Privy Council taker on appeal from Piggott's judgments.

** Flora Lugard to Edward J Lugard, Sept 21, 1907: Lugard Papers {Rhodes

House, Oxford: MSS Brit Empire s 67) 7.

Compare Piggott’s claim that ‘it is not in my nature to stic up strife, nor is

there anything in any work of mine from which, even if the Foreign Office

may not agree with it. such an intention could be construcd., That T am
independent is another and different matter which arises from my training.
and my positon as CJ.  But the record of my eleven vears™ service in Maurizins

shows that my instingts are congilimtory . . ' Pigoowt to Grey. Aug 8, 1912,

enclosure 8 in Jordan to Grey, confidentinl, No 338, Aug 3. 1912: FO371/13.6,

" Frederivh Lugurd to Edward J Lugard, Sept 23, 1907: Lugard Pupers 12,

¥ 1bid.

**The Forcign Office refused his olfers of assistance in 1914: seo FOITLI 19350
{3Y855). Nevertheless the British government asked him to prepare the official
hundbook, The Freedom of the Sca, used at the Verailles peace conference
at the ond of the fiest world war: Brokea Thread. op cit, 199.

=
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simply conlirmed it. His views were rarely syvmpatheticaily
conxidered,

This was especiully so in the period when Lugard was
governor.  Sir Frederick had had no experience of administrative
routine and settled constitutional practice when he became
governor of Hong Kong in 1907; his previous career had been
in Africa, where improvisation, autocracy and freedom of action
had most characterised his methods of administration.’® He
seemed to have little understanding of the proper relationship
between executive and judiciary in a regular Crown colony with
an established community. He seemed not to appreciate the
constitutional limitations upon his power, and was prepared to
call the Chief Justice to account for remarks made from the
Bench. Sir Francis Piggott, however, was anxious to assert
and insist upon the constitutional role of an independent
judiciary, refusing to admit that the governor could interfere
with the judges’ discretion in the exercise of their judicial
duties.’® His views were solidly founded on principle:

‘I have the honour to remind Your Excellency that 1
administer the King's justice in the Colony, and for such
purpose I represent His Majesty. If in the course of the
administration of the civil affairs of the Colony an order is
made which interferes with the administration of justice
which I cannot get altered by the usual method, it is my
duty to make the strongest representation possible to that
end; and this even though the order has received the
sanction of the Secretary of State.’™!

Lugard, for his part, complained of ‘the ceaseless attitude
of querulous controversy assumed by Sir F Piggott, towards the
Executive Government,’”®® and it would be idle to deny the
provocative nature of the way Piggott operated. It is not
conducive of the public interest that attitudes of rancour,
hostility and intolerance should exist between the executive and
judicial branches of government, especially in a2 small colony
such as Hong Kong in the early years of this century. Some

**See Margery Perham. Lugard: The Years of Authority, 1898-1945 (London:
Collins, 1960) 286-7.

* See enclosures 1 and 3 in Lugard to Elgin, confidential, Apr 7, 1908: CQ129/
347,

* Piggott 10 Lugard, Feb 13, 1909, enclosure 6 in Lugard to Crewe, No 66,
Mar 12, 1909: CO129/355. Only once was Piggott supported by the Colonial
Office on a matter of constitutional principle: see Lugard to Crewe, No 203,
July 15, 1909: CO129/357.

¥ Lugard 1o Crewe, No 263, 15 Oct 1908: CO129/348,
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of the blame for this lamentable state of affairs must be laid at
Pigyott’s door. In England the oftice of Lord Chancellor is the
essential link between administrators and judges; in Hong Kong
the Chief Justice is the best candidate to fulfil that role.
Piggott’s defects of personality prevented him from doing so
and guaranteed the failure of his many uttempts at reform.
But he was not solely responsible: the Colonial Oflice never really
gave him a chance in Hong Kong. The clerks, who had not
supported his appointment as Chief Justice, almost invariably
opposed him in his disputes with other officials; R E Stubbs, in
particular, seemed implacably prejudiced against him (‘The root
fact is that the man is a cad and is unable to conceal his
nature’™). Piggott resorted to waging war by correspondence
in defence of his actions, his proposals, and his honour. He
was too frequently a Chief Justice in his own cause.

As a judicial administrator, Piggott CJ was a disaster. His
record as a judge, however, as it appears in the Hong Kong Law
Reports, is very much stronger, and his legal arguments with
the Colonial Office were clearly stated and generally sound,
perhaps even anticipating modern trends in administrative law.
Yet the allegations of his partiality on the Bench, while never
substantiated, ave very disturbing. He never had any great
success as a writer on legal matters,™ and his primary purpose
in his studies of the law of the sea — to defend his country’s
interests — cannot now be considered laudable. His novels are
merely miidly entertaining. He was a learned man but more
memorable for his confroversies than for his achievements.

There are many similarities in temperament between Sir

% Minute on Lugard o Crewe. No 203, July 15, 1909: CQI29/337.

8 Dicey, when reviewing the second edition of Piggow's Law and Pracrice
Regarding Foreign Judgmoents, said that *Mr Piggott is one of those writers who
confuse size with groutnerss and produce buoks which gdiscredit the very name
of a jurist': (1885) 1| LQR 247, Principley of the Law of Toriy was
moderately well reviewed ("We have been finding fandt. but this because the
book is worth taking serivusiy, one which with all ity faults may profitably
be read’: (IX86) 2 LOR 95) und the reviewer of fmporial Stanmes was aon-
committal € (19033 19 LQR 470). One of the Colunial Ottive clerks thought
Pigeott's bovks full of mistakes: minute on May 0 Harcourt, confidential,
July 30, 1912: COIY/3IL. Piggow's Exiradition., however. was lermed “un
invaluable contribution w the legad works vn intornational law.  Farther, "The
fearncd author™s name is 2 guarantee of erudition and scholarship, both of
which are amply in ¢vidence throughout the work’s (1911 27 LOR 239,
See alw (1918 12 Am Jo 1L 223, Incidentadly, in relation o his depd
writings. Piggott himsell gnce doubted “whether a Judge who hus written o
book ought 1o hear a cuse in which the guoestions he has disgussed with prew
amplitude are involved™: L Cliopl-dignoe v L0 Poi-cliesd 1191033 & MRIT R 1Y 1S
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Francis Piggott and Mr James William Norton Kyshe, Seth's
predecessor as Registrar of the Supreme Court who was
compulserily retired a year before Piggott’s arrival®™ PBoth
were middle-class men aspiring {o positions probably beyond
their capabilities; both were exceedingly industrious in the
pursuit of their ambition. Both were inveterate scribblers
whose works have not generally survived the test of time. Both
were disputatious, tactless and insensitive. And both paid the
penalty of early retirement from the colonial civil service.
There were doubts about the sanity of both men, and in fact
Norton Kyshe was almost certainly insane at the time of
his death.®® Piggott seemed occasionally to be losing his
psychological equilibrium, but there is no evidence that he
suffered any serious mental illness. He is certainly the more
attractive of the two men: his accomplishments were greater,
his disputes with officialdom were less personal and more
principled, and his interests and talents were broader. There is,
indeed, a good deal to admire in him: his directness compares
favourably with the deviousness of other aspirants for high
office. But it is admitted that it must be easier for readers of
his life to like him now than for his colleagues in the colonial
civil service to have liked him then,

APPENDIX

Books and Articles by Francis Taylor Piggoit

1 Foreign Judgments; Their Effect in the English Couris (London: Stevens and
Sons, 1879). The enlarged second edition was published as The Law and
Praciice of the Courts of the United Kingdom relating to Foreign Judgmenis
and Parties Qut of the Jurisdiction, 10 which are added Chapters on the Laws
of the British Colonies {London: W Clowes and Sons, 1884). See also
‘Additional Notes and Recent Cases on Service Out of the Jurisdiction’
{London: W Clowes and Sons, 1886).

2 Principles of the Law of Torts {London: W Clowes and Sons, 1885).

3 ‘The Music of the Japanese’ (1891) 19 Transactions of the Asiatic Society
of Japan 271.

4 "New Japan' {1892) 52 Fortnightly Review (New Series) 333.
5 Service Qut of the Jurisdiction (London: W Clowes and Sons, 1892).

6 The Garden of Japan; A Year's Diary of Its Flowers (London and Orpington:
G Allen, 1892).

** See Wesley-Smith, ‘James William Norton Kyshe' (1972) 2 HKLJ 278.
**In 1916 a receiver was appointed under the Lunacy Acts to administer Norton
Kyshe's estate: see Crown Agents to Colonial Office, Feb 4, 1916: C0129/436.
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Exterritorinlite: The Law Reluting 1o Comsulur Jurisdiction and 1o Resideree
in Oricasal Cowsirics {London: W Clowes and Sons. 1892), A second
edition. revised and enlarged. was published by Clowes and by Kelly and
Walsh in Hong Kong in 1907

The Music and Masical lastreoncius of Japan {London: B T Batsford, 189%3)
{with notes by T L Southgawe). Republished in 1909 and reprinted by Da
Capo in 1971,

*Behring Sea Letters’ (published by The Times in 1893),

The Laws of Mauritiuz revised by Piggott and others tPort Louis: G Bouic.
189697 3 vols, rovised by i’v.".'m! and 1, A Thibauld and published in 7
volumes in 19U3,

Twe Chapiers in the Law of Torts {London: W Clowes and Sons, 1898).

A Sverewary of Legation: A Tale of Zufie {London: Methuen and Co, 1901)
(under the pseudonym "Hope Dawlish’). A new edition was published by
Keily and Walsh in Hong Kong in 1909,

{mperial Sratutes Applicabie 16 Colonies: vol i: Stwatites of General Application
{London: W Clowes and Sons, 1902). vol ii: Sraiwies of Specini Applicarion
(London: W Clowes and Sons, 1904).

Nationality, Including Naweralisation and English Law on the High Scas and
Beyond the Realm {London: W Clowes and Sons, 1907) 2 vols.

Foreign Judgments and Jurisdiction {London: Butterworth and Co; Hong
Kong: Kelly and Walsh, 1908-10) {(Parts 1 and 2 form 3rd ed of Forcign
Judgments and Parties Qur of the Jurisdiction (item 1 above); Part 3 is Ind
ed of Service Qui of the Jurisdiction {item § above)).

A Village Community {(London: George Allen and Sons, 191)) (under the
pseudonym ‘Hope Dawlish’).

Extradition: A Treavise on the Law Relating to Fugitive Qffeaders (London:
Buiterworth and Co; Hong Kong: Kelly and Walsh, 1910).

Studics in the Decorative Art of Jupan {London: B T Baisford, 1910).

“The Ito Legend: Personal Recollections of Prince 1to” (1910) 67 Nineteenth
Century and After 173,

‘On the Making of an Over-Sea Dominion® (1910) 67 Ninetcenth Century
and After 605,

A Fortnight in Seoul’ (1910) 67 Nineteenth Century and After 1099,
*An Emperor's Waterway' (1911) 70 Nineteenth Century and After 871,

Huafeng Lao Jen: Letiors on the Chinese Constitusion (London: Butterworth
and Co, 1913).

“The German Imperiai-Colonial Blunder' (1914) 76 Nineteenth Century and
After 941,

*China and the War™ {1915) 77 Nincteenth Century und After S31.

*The Neutral Merchant: Three American Notes and the Apswery” (1913 77
Nincteenth Century and After 729,

“Fhe Neutrad Morchamt and the “Freedom of the Sea”™ ™ 11913) 78 Nincteenth
Century and After 247,

‘Cotton as Contrabumd of War' ¢ 19{3) TN Nineteenth Century and After 3o,
“The “Ligvance of the King™® 11913) 78 Nincteenth Century and After 729,

The Newtral Moerclwnt in rodation o the Law of Congraband of War and
Rinckade wider the Order in Couneil of 1t Muareh, 1913 1(Lomndon:
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University of London Press, 1915) treprinted from Nincteenth Century amd
Aftwr).

31 Londun's Voices: A Musical Playler (London, 1915; 2nd ed revised. 1918).

32 War in Disguise; or, The Frawds of the Newwral Flags by James Stephen,
edited by Piggott (London: University of London Press, 1917).

33 ‘Sea-Power, the Armcd Nceutralities and Presideat Wilson® (1917) Bl
Nineteenth Century and After 819, 11917) 82 Nincteenth Century and
After 149, 647

34 ‘The Rclations of the Prize Court to Belligerent Policy’ (1917) 3 Transactions
of the Grotius Society 99.

35 The Free Scas in War: A Talk . . . an the Freedom of the Seas (London:
P S King and Sons, 1918).

36 Special Lectures on the Freedom of the Sea {London: W Clowes and Sons.
1918).

37 ‘A Note on the Construction of the Definition of “British Subject™ in Section
1 of the Nationality Act, 1914’ {(1918) 4 Transactions of the Grotius Society
35.

38 Documeniary History of the Armed Newiralities 1780 and 1800 (with G W T
Omond) {London: University of London Press, 1919).

39 The Declaration of Paris, 1856 (London: University of London Press, 1919).

A0 The Freedom of the Seas, Risiorically Treated (l.ondon: HMS0, 1918).

41 ‘The Season of French Plays: Recollections of “Chantecler™® {(1920) 88
Nineteenth Century and After 79,

42 ‘The Ex-Kaiser and His Officers’ {1920) 87 Nineteenth Century and After 537.

43 ‘The Greatest Navy in the World® (1921) 89 Nineteenth Century and After
511

44 ‘The Declaration of Paris and Lord Carteret” {(1921) 90 Nineteenth Century
and After 508.

45 ‘Practical Notes on Historical Research® (1922) § Transactions of the Royal
Historical Society {4th series) 132,

46 The Execution of British and Colonial Judgments within the Dominions'
{1922) 33 LQR 339,

47 "The Free Seas in Peace’ (1924) 95 Nineteenth Century and After 774.

{Note: This does not claim to be a complete list of all Piggott’s publications.)



